STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Allendale County

Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TRIVON DAYSHAD YOUNG,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001217

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

Nov 02 2020

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by refusing to admit evidence that the decedent was a registered sex offender since such evidence constituted a “pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by the accused” and, therefore, admissible pursuant to Rule 404(a)(2), SCRE, where the decedent’s character for violence and aggressiveness was relevant to Appellant’s defense of self-defense and highly probative as to his state of mind during the shooting and whether his fear of imminent death or serious bodily injury was reasonable?

2.

Did the trial judge err by refusing to tailor the self-defense instruction to adequately reflect the facts and theories presented by Appellant, specifically that the “defendant is not required to wait until his adversary is on equal terms before he acts” when the charge was supported by the evidence and was crucial to the jury’s understanding of the law on self-defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Allendale County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on September 15, 2017 for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 427. His case was called to trial on July 8, 2019 before the Honorable Brooks Goldsmith, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Reed Evans and Daniel Gurley represented the state. R. 2. Ian Deysach represented Appellant. R. 2.

On July 11, 2019, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 423, ll. 4-16. He was sentenced to thirty-eight years for murder and five years concurrent for the weapons offense. R. 427, l. 24 – 428, l. 6.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 17, 2017, Appellant was at a cookout at Thomas Frederick's house. Nigel Walker, the decedent, was also present, along with Frederick's girlfriend, Sophie Hall, Janae Smalls, and several children. R. 294, l. 22 – 295, l. 14. After the cookout, Appellant went home. R. 295, l. 15 – 296, l. 1. He lived with his parents down the street from Frederick's house. R. 294, ll. 19-21; R. 296, ll. 2-3. About an hour later, Appellant drove his father's truck back to Frederick's house to use the internet on his phone. R. 295, l. 21 – 298, l. 1. After briefly going inside, Appellant sat on the tailgate of his truck, which was parked near the carport, and browsed Facebook. R. 297, l. 14 – 298, l. 1; R. 301, ll. 3-15. No one else was outside at the time. R. 298, ll. 2-4.

About thirty minutes later, Walker walked up. R. 298, ll. 5-17. He and Appellant, who were friends, shook hands. R. 298, ll. 18-25. Eventually, Walker started talking about "black magic" and threatened Appellant. He said he was going to "sacrifice" Appellant for someone else. R. 301, ll. 17-22. Walker had been making similar threats over the past two days. R. 301, l. 23 – 302, l. 2. While threatening that he was going to sacrifice Appellant, Walker pulled out a gun. R. 302, ll. 10-15. Appellant was scared. He had known Walker to be violent in the past and thought Walker was going to shoot him. R. 302, l. 16 – 303, l. 7. Appellant began walking backwards. He removed his gun from where it was stored on his hip and started running. As he was running, Appellant fired towards Walker multiple times. R. 303, ll. 8-19.

Appellant ran around his truck to the passenger side to avoid Walker. He jumped into the truck through the passenger door and drove away. R. 303, l. 24 – 304, l. 12. He went home and told his parents what happened. Appellant decided to turn himself in and his parents drove him to the Fairfax Police Department. R. 304, l. 13 – 305, l. 12. During his initial interview with

police, Appellant claimed he was not involved in the shooting. R. 133, l. 9 – 134, l. 3; See State’s Exhibit No. 15 (DVD of Interview). Appellant admitted he lied because he was scared. R. 305, ll. 13-17. However, several hours later, after speaking with his parents, Appellant admitted shooting Walker in self-defense after Walker threatened him. R. 136, l. 19 – 137, l. 3; See State’s Exhibit No. 14 (DVD of Interview).

Appellant explained during his testimony that he only shot Walker because he was afraid and “paranoid.” R. 309, ll. 13-14. He was afraid of “dying” and “wanted to protect [his] life.” R. 302, ll. 16-20; R. 304, ll. 19-20. Appellant thought that if he merely ran, Walker would have shot him in the back. R. 304, ll. 19-23.

Thomas Frederick, Sophie Hall, and Janae Smalls, who were all inside Frederick’s house, saw the tail end of the shooting, but did not see what led up to it. All three claimed they heard the first shot, ran to the side door adjacent to the carport, and saw Appellant shoot Walker. R. 63, l. 5 – 65, l. 24; R. 93, l. 15 – 94, l. 4; R. 97, l. 3 – 98, l. 13; R. 111, l. 4 – 112, l. 23. Hall testified she opened the door to the carport and asked Appellant, “Why are you shooting him like that?” R. 64, ll. 4- 22; R. 65, ll. 15-16. She claimed Appellant looked at her, smirked, and shot Walker two more times before leaving in his truck. R. 64, ll. 23-25; R. 65, ll. 17-24. Smalls also claimed Appellant looked towards her, smiled, and fired at least two more times. R. 113, ll. 3-18. Frederick, on the other hand, testified that he saw Appellant shoot Walker four times. R. 97, l. 18 – 98, l. 8.

Law enforcement arrived about seven minutes after the shooting. R. 36, ll. 1-24. There were at least six or seven unidentified people in the yard. R. 36, ll. 18-25. While Walker’s gun was never located, a seventeen round magazine with Walker’s DNA on it was found near the carport. R. 42, ll. 3-10; R. 222, ll. 12-23; R. 228, ll. 2-25; R. 244, l. 8 – 246, l. 14.

Appellant suffers from post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). In 2014, when he was seventeen years old, Appellant was involved in a shooting which resulted in the death of his cousin and severe injuries to himself. Appellant was a passenger in a parked car when an assailant, who was never identified, fired multiple gunshots into the car. R. 291, l. 22 – 293, l. 16. Appellant’s cousin was shot in the neck and head. R. 293, ll. 7-12. Appellant was shot three times and was hospitalized for weeks while he recovered from his injuries. He had surgery to remove his spleen and required over forty staples to his stomach. R. 293, l. 13 – 294, l. 6.

In February 2018, Appellant was evaluated by Dr. Sharisa Christopher with the Department of Mental Health for competency to stand trial after he was arrested for murder in this case. Despite finding Appellant competent to stand trial, Dr. Christopher, a clinical psychologist, diagnosed Appellant with PTSD and major depressive disorder. R. 276, ll. 11-19. After being qualified as an expert, she explained to the jury that the shooting Appellant experienced in 2014 was a “traumatic stressor” so severe that it resulted in “symptom impairment.” R. 277, l. 5 – 278, l. 14.

Dr. Christopher asserted that Appellant met all four categories of symptoms seen in patients with PTSD. R. 278, ll. 21-25. The first category is “intrusive reminders.” Appellant “described experiencing recurrent distressing memories” and nightmares. R. 279, ll. 1-24. These intrusive reminders are often marked by “physiological reactions,” such as sweating, heart racing, and difficulty breathing. Appellant described experiencing some of these reactions when he was reminded of the shooting. R. 279, l. 25 – 280, l. 9.

The second category is “avoidance.” Individuals who suffer from PTSD may avoid certain people or places that remind them of the traumatic event or avoid conversations about the event. R. 280, l. 14 – 281, l. 6. Appellant, for example, avoided talking about the shooting. R.

281, ll. 7-10. The third category is “negative alternations and cognitions.” The traumatic stressor can change the way one sees themselves, the world around them, or other people. R. 281, l. 11 – 282, l. 4. It can also change one’s interests. R. 282, ll. 5-11. Appellant described diminished interest in activities he used to enjoy. R. 282, ll. 12-14. He also described negative beliefs about himself. For example, Appellant experienced feelings of guilt that if he had done things differently on the day of the shooting he could have changed the outcome or prevented the trauma from occurring. R. 282, ll. 15-23.

The final category is “alternations in arousal.” R. 282, l. 24. This includes “heightened startled response” or being startled more easily by loud noises and “hyper vigilance” or a “heightened sense of safety.” R. 282, l. 24 – 283, l. 15. Appellant described difficulty concentrating and irritability. He was “more inclined to feel upset more quickly than he had previously.” R. 283, ll. 16-20. Finally, Dr. Christopher explained that individuals with PTSD tend to respond to traumatic events with “fear, helplessness, and horror.” R. 284, l. 9 – 286, l. 16.

The trial judge charged the jury on self-defense and the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. R. 407, l. 11 – 412, l. 15. The jury ultimately found Appellant guilty of murder. R. 423, ll. 4-16.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial judge abused his discretion by refusing to admit evidence that the decedent was a registered sex offender since such evidence constituted a “pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by the accused” and, therefore, admissible pursuant to Rule 404(a)(2), SCRE, where the decedent’s character for violence and aggressiveness was relevant to Appellant’s defense of self-defense and highly probative as to his state of mind during the shooting and whether his fear of imminent death or serious bodily injury was reasonable.

Relevant Facts

In 2001, the decedent was convicted of lewd act upon a child and, consequently, was required to register as a sex offender. At the time of his conviction, lewd act was not classified as a violent offense. However, the offense has since been recodified as third degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, which is a violent offense. R. 3, ll. 10-19. At the time of his death, the decedent was also subject to lifetime electronic monitoring pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-540 and wore an ankle monitor.

The assistant solicitor moved pretrial to suppress evidence the decedent was a sex offender. He explained that during Appellant’s first trial months earlier, which resulted in a mistrial, defense counsel asked several witnesses whether they knew the decedent was a sex offender. The solicitor admitted that some of the witnesses knew while others did not learn until after the decedent’s death. R. 3, ll. 20-23. He acknowledged defense counsel sought to admit this evidence to suggest the decedent had a character for violence and that Appellant had a basis for believing his life was in mortal danger. However, the solicitor maintained that the nature of the offense for which the decedent was convicted is not violent “either in the statutory sense or in

the colloquial sense.” R. 3, 23 – 4, l. 8. Consequently, he concluded the evidence was not relevant and was merely “designed to inflame the jury.” R. 4, ll. 9-25.

The solicitor admitted Appellant could introduce evidence of the decedent’s character for violence or reputation for violence in the community pursuant to Rule 404(a), SCRE, but maintained that any reference to the decedent’s prior record would be improper. R. 4, l. 25 – 5, l. 4. According to the solicitor, the decedent’s sex offender status was a reference to his prior criminal record. R. 7, ll. 12-19.

Defense counsel argued that evidence the decedent was a sex offender was admissible pursuant to Rule 404(a)(2), SCRE, as “evidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by the accused” as it demonstrates the decedent’s character for violence or aggressiveness. R. 5, ll. 5-20. Counsel clarified that the decedent was originally arrested for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor under eleven years of age. He could “think of nothing more aggressive than” assaulting a child of such tender years. R. 5, ll. 9-20.

Counsel explained that during Appellant’s first trial, he asked numerous witnesses whether they knew the decedent was a sex offender and “nobody denied it, nobody denied knowing it.” R. 5, ll. 20-25. He argued the evidence was relevant and probative as to whether Appellant’s fear was reasonable, which is an element of self-defense. R. 6, ll. 8-20. He asserted, “[W]hen you are being threatened by a sex offender it’s more scary than when you are being threatened by someone who is not a sex offender. That is why we need this. It is not to bash Nigel [the decedent], it is a pertinent trait of aggressiveness, because he is a sex offender, everyone knows it, and when they threaten you it’s more scary. That is why it’s relevant. That is why the trait is pertinent. And that is why it’s proper for the jury to hear it. And the rule seems to explicitly allow it.” R. 6, ll. 11-20.

Citing to Rule 404(b), SCRE, defense counsel asserted he was not offering the evidence “to prove action in conformity therewith.” R. 8, ll. 2-7. More specifically, he stated, “I’m not saying that he [the decedent] was aggressive towards Traivon [Appellant] because he is a sex offender, I’m saying Traivon is more scared of his behavior because he is a sex offender. So, it has nothing to do with Nigel’s [the decedent’s] behavior, it has to do with [Appellant’s] state of mind” as it relates to the intent element of self-defense. R. 8, ll. 7-15. Defense counsel concluded, “Sex offenders put more fear in people than non-sex offenders. And that is why it’s important.” R. 8, ll. 15-17.

The judge asked counsel whether he was arguing that sex offenders are more dangerous than others. R. 8, ll. 20-21. Counsel acknowledged that was his argument. He asserted, “[S]ex offenders can offend against anybody.” They are “aggressive.” “It is not a crime of sex, it is a crime of violence.” R. 9, ll. 3-6.

When asked how he planned to introduce the evidence during trial, counsel explained that during the previous trial, the eyewitnesses, the people who knew the decedent and knew he was a sex offender, testified as to his status. R. 7, ll. 20-25.

The judge took the motion under advisement. R. 10, ll. 4-7. However, he ultimately granted the state’s motion to suppress any evidence that the decedent was a sex offender. R. 52, l. 25 – 53, l. 1. Reading from State v. McCray, 413 S.C. 76, 94, 773 S.E.2d 914, 923 (Ct. App. 2015), the judge asserted, “[E]vidence of other specific instances of violence on the part of the deceased are not admissible unless they were directed against the Defendant or[,] [if] directed against others[,] [were] so closely connected at the point of time or occasion with the homicide as to reasonably indicate the state of mind of the deceased at the time of the homicide.” R. 53, ll.

2-15. The judge concluded the decedent's status as a sex offender constituted a specific instance of violence or conduct as opposed to reputation. R. 56, ll.12-14.

Defense counsel distinguished this case from McCray. He asserted that in McCray, the defendant sought to admit evidence of the deceased's specific criminal convictions and his disciplinary records from the Department of Corrections. However, in this case, Appellant only sought to admit the decedent's status as a sex offender, which is a pertinent character trait. He did not intend to introduce evidence concerning the underlying conviction or facts surrounding the conviction. R. 54, l. 2 – 55, l. 10.

The judge maintained his position that the decedent's status as a sex offender was a specific instance of conduct and thus inadmissible pursuant to McCray.

Defense counsel later added to his argument by citing to S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-400, which lists the purpose of the sex offender registry. The statute states in part, "Statistics show that sex offenders often pose a high risk of reoffending." R. 156, ll. 3-17. Counsel asserted, "Statistics show that a person doesn't just do this once and then change . . . And so, therefore, it's my argument that it's a character trait and not evidence of a specific instance of conduct." R. 156, l. 24 – 157, l. 6.

The assistant solicitor stood by his argument that the decedent's sex offender status is not a character trait but rather "a legal status imposed by a court following a conviction or a sexual crime." He maintained it was evidence of a prior bad act and inadmissible. R. 157, ll. 10-15. The trial judge refused to change his ruling. R. 157, ll. 21-24.

Standard of Review

"The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the [circuit court], whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion' or the

commission of a legal error resulting in prejudice to the defendant.” State v. McCray, 413 S.C. 76, 92, 773 S.E.2d 914, 922 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting State v. Martucci, 380 S.C. 232, 247, 669 S.E.2d 598, 606 (2008)) (alternation in original). “An abuse of discretion arises from an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support.” Id. (quoting Martucci, 380 S.C. at 247, 669 S.E.2d at 606) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Discussion

The trial judge abused his discretion by refusing to admit evidence that the decedent was a registered sex offender since such evidence constituted a “pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by the accused” and, therefore, admissible pursuant to Rule 404(a)(2), SCRE. The evidence was relevant to Appellant’s defense of self-defense and probative as to Appellant’s state of mind during the shooting and whether his fear of imminent death or serious bodily injury was reasonable.

Evidence is relevant if it “ha[s] any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. All relevant evidence is admissible, unless constitutionally, statutorily, or otherwise provided. Rule 402, SCRE. Rule 404(a)(2), SCRE, provides, in relevant part, “Evidence of a person’s character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion, except . . . [e]vidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by an accused, or by the prosecution to rebut the same. . .”

Appellant sought to admit evidence that the decedent was a sex offender as evidence of his character for violence and aggression. This evidence was relevant because it made it more or less probable that Appellant’s fear of imminent death or serious bodily injury was reasonable. It

was also relevant to Appellant's state of mind during the shooting. For these same reasons, evidence the decedent was a sex offender was highly probative. It supported Appellant's assertion that he acted in self-defense because he reasonably feared imminent death or serious bodily injury after the decedent brandished a gun and threatened to "sacrifice" Appellant. Consequently, this evidence should have been admitted pursuant to Rule 404(a)(2) as a pertinent character trait of the decedent.

In State v. McCray, which was relied on by the judge at trial, McCray sought to admit evidence from Lieutenant Frank Jackson that he investigated the deceased in a burglary and safecracking incident that occurred years before the shooting. According to Jackson, the deceased was convicted of burglary, second-degree burglary as a violent offense, and safecracking after he and two others took an ATM from a convenience store. McCray, 413 S.C. at 85, 773 S.E.2d at 919. McCray also sought to admit evidence from Lieutenant David Brabham that he arrested the deceased years earlier for driving under suspension, failure to stop for a blue light, and the unlawful carrying of a pistol. Id. at 85-86, 773 S.E.2d at 919.

In analyzing whether the circuit court abused its discretion in excluding this evidence, this Court stated, "The rule has long been established in this State that evidence of other specific instances of violence on the part of the deceased are not admissible unless they were directed against the defendant, or, if directed against others, were so closely connected in point of time or occasion with the homicide as reasonably to indicate the state of mind of the deceased at the time of the homicide . . ." Id. at 94, 773 S.E.2d at 923 (quoting State v. Amburgey, 206 S.C. 426, 429, 34 S.E.2d 779, 780 (1945)). This Court ultimately agreed with the circuit court's conclusion that Jackson and Brabham's testimonies were situation specific and unrelated to the deceased's state of mind at the time of the homicide. Id. at 94, 773 S.E.2d at 924.

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