**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

RECEIVED

Nov 23 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Allendale County
The Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001217

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TRAVON DAYSHAD YOUNG,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
No. 14244

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General
No. 4806

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 1880

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

The rule has long been established in this State that evidence of other specific instances of violence on the part of the deceased are not admissible unless they were directed against the defendant, or, if directed against others, were so closely connected in point of time or occasion with the homicide as reasonably to indicate the state of mind of the deceased at the time of the homicide....

Id. at 94, 773 S.E.2d at 923 (quoting *State v. Amburgey*, 206 S.C. 426, 429, 34 S.E.2d 779, 780 (1945)). *See also McCray*, 413 S.C. at 94-95, 773 S.E.2d at 924. Despite his preliminary ruling, he allowed trial counsel to research the issue over a lunch break and further argue the matter. See **R. 52-53.**

After the break, counsel argued that he was seeking to elicit the victim's character trait as a sex offender under Rule 404(a)(2), SCRE. Counsel contended that "the case law and the rules distinguish between evidence by reputation and evidence of specific instances of conduct." **R 54-55.** He also argued that the State had wrongly asserted that saying that a person is a sex offender "is tantamount to evidence of a specific instance of conduct," and he analogized calling a person a sex offender to calling someone an alcoholic. He explained that he was "distinguishing between reputation [as a] sex offender and it being a specific incident of conduct." **R. 54.**

Counsel then sought to distinguish *McCray*, asserting that *McCray* had attempted to admit evidence of the victim's specific criminal convictions and disciplinary records from the South Carolina Department of Corrections. However, Appellant only sought to admit the decedent's status as a sex offender, which is a pertinent character trait. He conceded that if it was a specific instance of conduct, it was inadmissible. **R. 55.** Counsel again asserted that he proposed asking witnesses, "[A]re you aware that [the victim] is a sex offender, and the answer is either yes or no." **R. 54-56.**

When the trial judge stated that he believed counsel was attempting to ask about a specific incident, counsel again stated that the South Carolina Rules of evidence and the case law permitted him to introduce evidence of a sex offender's "propensity." He contended that "it is a reputation and something that you have a propensity for." **R. 56-57.** However, the trial judge disagreed with

counsel because he did not believe anyone could “draw a character [inference] from one event.” Therefore, he did not change his ruling. *R. 57-58.*

Later in the trial, counsel supplemented his argument by relying on S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-400 (Supp. 2020), which sets forth the purpose of the sex offender registry. He noted that § 23-3-400 states that “statistics show that sex offenders often pose a higher risk of reoffending.” Based on the statistics showing recidivist behavior, he contended that it was a character trait and not a specific instance of conduct. *R. 156-57.*

The State argued that rather than being a character trait, “sex offender ... is a legal status imposed by a court following a conviction for a sexual crime. Accordingly, it was evidence of a prior bad act. *R. 157.* Again, the trial judge declined to change his ruling. *R. 157.* After the trial judge had denied Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict, counsel renewed his objection to the trial judge’s ruling that he could not elicit testimony the victim was a sex offender. He contended that it was relevant to explaining Appellant’s “subjective and objective fear.” *R. 271-72.* Counsel also renewed his objection following Appellant’s conviction, as part of his motion for new trial. *R. 424-26.*

B. Discussion.

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by excluding the proposed line of cross-examination. *See Sherard*, 303 S.C. at 174, 399 S.E.2d at 596. Generally, all relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. Yet, evidence is only relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy. Rule 401, SCRE. Appellant contends that evidence a witness was aware the victim was a sex offender was admissible under Rule 404(a)(2), SCRE. Respondent disagrees.

Rule 404(a)(2), states that:

Evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion, except ... [e]vidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by an accused, or by the prosecution to rebut the same, or evidence of a character trait of peacefulness of the victim offered by the prosecution in a homicide case to rebut evidence that the victim was the first aggressor.

The comments to Rule 404(a)(2) state that “Rule 404(a)(2) identical to the federal rule and is consistent with the law in South Carolina.” In other words, Rule 404(a)(2) is consistent with cases such as *McCray*, 413 S.C. at 94, 773 S.E.2d at 923, and *State v. Day*, 341 S.C. 410, 419-20, 535 S.E.2d 431, 436 (2000), where the Supreme Court likewise stated that:

In the murder prosecution of one pleading self-defense against an attack by the deceased, evidence of other specific instances of violence on the part of the deceased are not admissible unless they were directed against the defendant or, if directed against others, were so closely connected at point of time or occasion with the homicide as reasonably to indicate the state of mind of the deceased at the time of the homicide, or to produce reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm. *State v. Brown*, 321 S.C. 184, 467 S.E.2d 922 (1996); *State v. Amburgey*, 206 S.C. 426, 34 S.E.2d 779 (1945). Whether a specific instance of conduct by the deceased is closely connected in point of time or occasion to the homicide so as to be admissible is in the trial judge's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to the accused. *Id.* (citing *State v. Peak*, 134 S.C. 329, 133 S.E. 31 (1926)).

See also McCray, 413 S.C. at 94-95, 773 S.E.2d at 924 (quoting *Day*); *State v. Franklin*, 267 S.C. 240, 226 S.E.2d 896 (1976); *State v. Jones*, 182 S.C. 1, 188 S.E. 178 (1936); *State v. Hill*, 129 S.C. 166, 123 S.E. 817 (1924). Evidence that the victim was a “sex offender” and on the sex offender registry does not meet this standard.

As the State correctly argued at trial (*R. 157*), the term “sex offender” is a status given following a conviction for a wide variety of different offenses. See S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430 (C)(1)-(23) (Supp. 2020). Standing alone, evidence that someone is on the sex offender registry is nothing more than inadmissible propensity evidence. *Cf. State v. Nelson*, 331 S.C. 1, 7, 501 S.E.2d 716, 719 (1998) (“Generally speaking, character refers to an aspect of an individual's personality which is usually described in evidentiary law as a ‘propensity’ ”) (citation omitted). Also and as

the trial judge correctly observed, the offense giving rise to this status was “situation-specific-*i.e.*, it was a specific criminal act against a minor female – and it was unrelated to Appellant’s state of mind at the time of the offense. *See McCray*, 413 S.C. at 94, 773 S.E.2d at 923-24.

Nor did Appellant’s proffer indicate that he was aware of the victim’s status as a sex offender at the time of the homicide. His proffer only indicated that several prosecution witnesses knew the victim’s status. So, the proffered evidence could not “produce reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm” under *Day*, 341 S.C. at 420, 535 S.E.2d at 436. Further, that he was unaware of the victim’s sex offender status is important on the question of who was the initial aggressor “because the mere fact of a sex-offender registration is of little, if any, probative value in determining who was the initial aggressor.” *State v. Avery*, 275 S.W.3d 231, 235 (Mo. 2009).⁸

Further, Appellant tried to present evidence the victim was a sex offender because he obviously understood there was no close temporal connection between the victim’s 2001 conviction and the 2017 homicide and, thus, proof of the underlying act was inadmissible. *See McCray*, 413 S.C. at 95, 773 S.E.2d at 924. *See also Brown*, 321 S.C. at 187, 467 S.E.2d at 924 (trial judge did not abuse discretion by excluding prior violent act the victim in support of a self-defense charge where the specific act of violence occurred twenty-three years prior to the homicide); *State v. Evans*, 112 S.C. 43, 99 S.E. 751 (1919) (trial judge in a manslaughter trial did not abuse discretion in excluding record of deceased’s indictment for burglary where burglary charge was not sufficiently connected in time and circumstances to be submitted as evidence affecting self-defense); *Accord Day*, 341 S.C. at 419-20, 535 S.E.2d at 436 (trial judge abused his

⁸ Again, Appellant conceded that he was not saying that the victim was aggressive towards Appellant because he was a sex offender. **R. 8.**

discretion by excluding evidence victim committed violent act against witness four months before homicide).

Moreover, even relevant evidence “may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, [or] waste of time” Rule 403, SCRE. To the extent that the victim’s status as a sex offender had any probative value, that probative value was *de minimis*. See *Avery*, 275 S.W.3d at 235. On the other hand, its prejudicial effect was substantial.

This line of inquiry would have circumvented the common law rule for the admissibility of evidence of specific acts of violence by victim in homicide cases where self-defense is raised. Clearly, the 2001 conviction for lewd act on a minor was not “directed against the defendant.” Nor was that offense “so closely connected at point of time or occasion with the homicide as reasonably to indicate the state of mind of the deceased at the time of the homicide, or to produce reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm.” See *McCray*, 413 S.C. at 95, 773 S.E.2d at 924. See also *Brown*, 321 S.C. at 187, 467 S.E.2d at 924. Appellant did not assert that the status played any role in his claim of self-defense and, indeed, his proffer did not indicate that he even knew of it at the time he allegedly acted in self-defense. See *Avery*, 275 S.W.3d at 235.

Although this evidence would have done nothing to aid Appellant’s claim of self-defense and could not have served any other legitimate purpose, it would have needlessly besmirched the victim’s character. This would have prejudicially inflamed the passions and prejudices of the jury against the victim, based on an irrelevant conviction entered sixteen years before the homicide. Also, even if the trial judge had denied the State’s motion *in limine*, the testimony was nevertheless inadmissible. In the offer of proof, Appellant contended the witnesses “were aware” the victim was a registered sex offender *E.g.*, **R. 5, 7**. Importantly, he failed to show that any witness had

personal knowledge of the status, as required by Rule 602, SCRE (“A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter”). *See also State v. Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 339 n. 11, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 n. 11 (2013) (“Assuming the anonymous commenter was present and actually witnessed the shooting, he or she would not have been able to testify that the killing ‘was an accident.’ Any testimony would have been limited to what the witness observed, with the ultimate decision of murder or accidental killing to be decided by the jury”) (citing Rule 602, SCRE); *State v. Tennant*, 394 S.C. 5, 12, 714 S.E.2d 297, 300 (2011).

Rather, it appears each witness’ knowledge of his status was based on inadmissible hearsay. 801(c), SCRE (defining hearsay as “a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted”); Rule 802, SCRE (providing hearsay is generally not admissible). *See also State v. Adams*, 430 S.C. 420, 427, 845 S.E.2d 217, 220 (Ct. App. 2020) (“Our rules of evidence deem hearsay inadmissible, subject to exceptions”) (citing Rule 802, SCRE); *State v. LaCoste*, 347 S.C. 153, 160, 553 S.E.2d 464, 468 (Ct. App. 2001) (“Hearsay is inadmissible except as provided by statute, the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, or other court rules”) (citing Rule 802, SCRE). Accordingly, if these witnesses had been asked whether they were aware the victim was on the sex offender registry, the State still could have successfully objected on these grounds.

Finally, for many of these same reasons, any error in excluding the proffered line of cross-examination was non-prejudicial and harmless beyond any reasonable doubt. *See State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 27, 732 S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012) (“An appellate court generally will decline to set aside a conviction due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result”); *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 537, 763 S.E.2d 22, 29 (2014) (“The harmless error rule generally provides that an error is

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it did not contribute to the verdict obtained”). The conviction giving rise to the victim’s status as a sex offender was remote and while the victim’s status as a sex offender may have had probative value if the defendant was a minor female, it had little, if any, probative value in determining who was the initial aggressor in this case because Appellant is an adult male. Again, his proffer did not indicate that he was aware the victim was a sex offender.

Also, because Appellant claimed that he acted in self-defense, identity was not an issue. As a result, the jury was only required to determine whether (1) the shooting was malicious, (2) whether the victim had sufficiently provoked Appellant, such that he was only guilty of voluntary manslaughter,⁹ or (3) whether Appellant shot the victim in self-defense.¹⁰ The State’s evidence tended to show that the victim did nothing to provoke the shooting and that Appellant had indicated to at least two witnesses that he had express malice. *See R. 71* (Sophia Hall testified on day of

⁹ *See State v. Oates*, 421 S.C. 1, 23, 803 S.E.2d 911, 923–24 (Ct. App. 2017) (defining voluntary manslaughter as “the unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation” (quoting *State v. Starnes*, 388 S.C. 590, 596, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (2010))).

¹⁰ There are four elements necessary to a claim of self-defense:

First, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Second, the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger. Third, if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life. Fourth, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984).

shooting he said, “I’m going to kill somebody today. I don’t know who it is”); *R. 121* (Janae Smalls testified he said before shooting that he “out looking for blood”).

On the other hand, Appellant testified that the victim returned to the cookout while Appellant was using the Wi-Fi at Mr. Frederick’s residence. No one else was outside at the time. The victim began talking about “black magic,” as he had for several days. He told Appellant that he was going to make “a sacrifice” for him. Appellant became very nervous when the victim pulled out a gun. Appellant claimed that he had known the victim to become violent and to carry a gun. So, Appellant first backed up. He soon began shooting as he ran towards his truck and did not look back. *R. 296-305*.

Therefore, neither the victim’s status as a sex offender nor the 2001 lewd act conviction played any role in his decision to act in self-defense. According, the exclusion of this line of cross-examination was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Black*, 400 S.C. at 27, 732 S.E.2d at 890; *Collins*, 409 S.C. at 537, 763 S.E.2d at 29.

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